1990

Kasco Services Corporation v. Larry D. Benson and Connie A. Benson dba Tri-B-Supply : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction to decide this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j); Rule 5 Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. The Utah Supreme Court granted this interlocutory appeal on July 17, 1990. (R. 947).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Did the district court abuse its discretion by refusing to extend the preliminary injunction against Larry Benson for 18 months following termination of his employment with Kasco as the parties agreed, and not merely for 12 months as the district court ordered?

"' [T]he granting or refusing of injunction rests to some extent within the sound discretion of the trial court, and its judgment . . . will not be disturbed on

appeal unless it can be said the court abused its discretion, or that the judgment rendered is clearly against the weight of the evidence.' " System Concepts, Inc. v. Dixon, 669 P.2d 421, 425 (Utah 1983), quoting Johnson v. Ward, 541 P.2d 182, 188 (Okla. 1975). The trial court's discretion must have been exercised consistently with sound equitable principles, "taking into account all the facts and circumstances of the case." System Concepts, 669 P.2d at 425.

2. Did the district court abuse its discretion by refusing to enjoin Connie Benson and Robert Benson (who were not parties to Larry Benson's employment agreement with Kasco) from exploiting Larry Benson's contract breaches?

The standard of review for the grant or refusal of injunctive relief identified for issue 1 above also applies to Issue 2. To the extent the district court concluded that privity of contract is a prerequisite to injunctive relief against Connie and Robert Benson, the court's holding is a legal conclusion reviewed de novo. Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985)("[W]e accord conclusions of law no particular deference but review them for correctness"). See also Las Vegas Novelty, Inc., v. Fernandez, 787 P.2d 772, 774 (1990)(whether strangers to

non-competition covenant may be enjoined was decided as "a matter of law").

3. Is Kasco entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Bensons and Tri-B-Supply even though the 18-month post-employment provisions have expired during the pendency of this appeal?

This issue was not ruled upon by the district court but is a legal issue of first impression in Utah which arose during the pendency of this appeal.¹

4. Did the district court abuse its discretion by refusing leave to amend Kasco's Verified Complaint to add Robert Benson as a defendant and to add claims against Larry and Connie Benson?

A trial court's refusal of leave to amend pleadings is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Kelly v. Utah Power & Light, 746 P.2d 1189, 1190 (Utah App. 1987).

¹ This issue was not specifically raised in Kasco's Petition for Interlocutory Appeal (R. 948) but was identified as a necessary issue during proceedings concerning Kasco's Motion for Injunction Pending Disposition of Petition under Rule 5 and Pending Appeal. This Motion was argued before the Utah Supreme Court on August 13, 1990.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY
PROVISIONS OR RULES

There are no constitutional or statutory provisions or ordinances or rules whose interpretation is deemed determinative in this action.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case

This is an interlocutory appeal from the district court's denial of injunctive relief against Larry D. Benson, Connie Benson and Robert Benson. Kasco commenced this action for injunctive relief and damages based upon contractual covenants against post-employment competition entered into by Larry D. Benson.

2. Course of Proceedings and Trial Court Disposition

On March 17, 1989, Kasco filed a verified complaint against Larry Benson, his wife Connie Benson, and Tri-B-Supply, seeking injunctive relief and damages (R. 2). On the same date, the district court entered a temporary restraining order against the defendants. (R. 85). On March 21, 1989, following a hearing, the district court granted a preliminary injunction against Larry Benson. (R. 126, R. 973, pp. 5-11). The district court signed an order of preliminary injunction on April 10, 1989.

(R. 139). Subsequently, Kasco filed the following motions: (1) Motion for Preliminary Injunction Against Connie Benson and Order to Show Cause Why Connie Benson Should Not Be Held in Contempt of Court, dated April 7, 1989 (R. 156); (2) Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint (naming Robert Benson, Larry's son, as a defendant and modifying Kasco's claims), dated August 24, 1989, (R. 353); (3) Motion for Preliminary Injunction Against Robert Benson, dated January 5, 1990, (R. 461); and (4) Motion for Modification of the Court's April 7, 1989, Order of Preliminary Injunction, dated January 17, 1990. (R. 846). The district court denied Kasco's motions without findings of fact or conclusions of law. (R. 942).

Kasco filed its Petition for Permission to Appeal Interlocutory Order on May 29, 1990. (R. 948). This Court granted interlocutory appeal to Kasco on July 17, 1990, (R. 947) and on August 14, 1990, it granted Kasco's Motion for Injunction Pending Disposition of Petition Under Rule 5 and Pending Appeal filed on June 20, 1990. (Addendum M).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Introduction

This is an employment case involving contractual covenants against post-employment competition. The action is based upon an employment agreement that defendant Larry

Benson entered into with Kasco.² The Agreement contains post-employment restrictions which the district court found reasonable and enforceable. (R. 973, pp. 5-6). The district court enjoined Larry Benson from undertaking a business--Tri-B-Supply--which competes with Kasco in violation of the Agreement. (R. 139). However, the district court shortened the length of the injunction from eighteen months (the period specified in the Agreement) to twelve months from the date of Mr. Benson's resignation. (R. 973, p. 7; Addendum A ¶ 4.3). The district court refused to enjoin Connie and Robert Benson (Larry Benson's wife and son) who continued the competing business after Larry Benson was enjoined. (R. 834).

2. Larry Benson's Employment with Kasco

Kasco is engaged in the business of selling, renting and regularly servicing products throughout the United States which are used in the meat-cutting trade (the "butcher supply business"). (R. 41 ¶ 4). Examples of products it sells or rents include chopper plates or knives,

²Kasco is the successor-in-interest to Keene Corporation which entered into the employment agreement with Mr. Benson on August 2, 1982 (the "Agreement"), attached as Addendum A. The rights and obligations under the Agreement were assigned to Kasco as Mr. Benson agreed. (Addendum A, ¶ 8.1). Keene and Kasco are collectively referred to here as "Kasco."

saw blades, seasonings, cutlery, butcher supplies, and retail grocery market case decorations. (R. 41 ¶ 4).

In approximately February 1977, Kasco hired Larry Benson and assigned him to Kasco's Utah territory which comprises the State of Utah and parts of Idaho and Wyoming. (R. 41 ¶¶ 5, 6; R. 117). Kasco provided Larry Benson with classroom and on-the-job training. (R. 41 ¶ 6; Addendum B, pp. 43, 57-58).³ As part of Kasco's sales operations, Mr. Benson was trained to develop and foster close, on-going relationships with Kasco's customers and to visit them regularly (no fewer than three times per year) to provide Kasco's services. (R. 41 ¶ 6). This sales method allowed Mr. Benson, as Kasco's agent, to develop and nurture a unique, hard-earned familiarity with Kasco's customers that "cannot be replaced without much time and effort." (R. 41-42 ¶ 6).

On August 2, 1982, Larry Benson entered into the employment agreement at issue here. Larry Benson agreed that "for a period of eighteen months immediately following the termination of his employment" with Kasco, he would not:

(i) call upon any Keene Customer for the purpose of soliciting, selling, renting and/or servicing Butcher Products,

³Addendum B contains pertinent pages of Larry Benson's deposition transcript.

(ii) directly or indirectly, solicit, divert, take away or attempt to take away any Keene Customer, or the business or patronage of any such customer for Butcher Products, or

(iii) directly or indirectly, engage in any manner in the business of the sale, rental or servicing of Butcher Products in any geographic territory in which [Larry Benson] had called upon Keene Customers during the period of his employment with Keene

Addendum A, ¶ 4.3.) The Agreement also prohibited Larry Benson from using or disclosing Confidential Information. (Addendum A, ¶¶ 1.1(c), 3, 4.4). Mr. Benson was given confidential customer and pricing lists and was entrusted with pre-existing customers. (R. 41-43 ¶¶ 6, 11; R. 99 ¶¶ 10-11).

Larry Benson and Kasco agreed that the provisions of the Agreement could not be "modified or supplemented in any respect, except by a subsequent written agreement. . . ." (Addendum A, ¶ 10). It is uncontested that Larry Benson and Kasco have not entered into a subsequent written agreement affecting terms of the 1982 Agreement. Larry Benson acknowledged in the Agreement that were he to breach the post-employment provisions, Kasco would be irreparably injured and entitled to enjoin any such breach. (Addendum A, ¶¶ 4.1, 6.1).

It took Larry Benson "a couple" of service calls before customers would begin developing trust in his abilities. (Addendum B, pp. 83-84). However, Mr. Benson utilized Kasco's sales methods successfully and developed a unique, hard-earned familiarity and acceptance with Kasco's customers that cannot be replaced without much time and effort. (R. 42 ¶ 6). Because of Larry Benson's favored status with Kasco, he had direct access to Kasco's executive officers. (R. 41 ¶ 6).

In the summer of 1988, following the merger leading to Kasco's incorporation (R. 40-41 ¶ 3), employment contracts were distributed to Kasco's employees including Larry Benson to ensure that all territory managers had employment agreements. (R. 921). At that time, Kasco acknowledged that similar agreements were already in effect with Keene (the predecessor company employing Larry Benson). (R. 921). Kasco stated that the preexisting agreements were expressly "restated for the record." (R. 921). Under Larry Benson's Agreement, the parties' rights and obligations "bind and inure to the benefit of any successor or successors of Keene . . . by merger" (R. 98 ¶ 7); (Addendum A ¶ 8.1). Larry Benson did not execute the 1988 contract. (R. 62-63, ¶ 3). Larry Benson alleges that he advised Kasco personnel in August 1988 that he considered

the non-competition provisions of the 1982 Agreement he entered "null and void." (R. 916-17 ¶ 8).

3. Tri-B-Supply

During 1988, before leaving Kasco, Larry Benson began telling Kasco customers that he planned to quit his job with Kasco and start his own business. (Addendum C, pp. 18, 28; Addendum D, pp. 24-26).⁴ In January 1989, Larry Benson and Connie Benson orally agreed that Larry Benson would undertake his own butcher supply business with Connie's help as Tri-B-Supply. (Addendum E, pp. 24-25).⁵ They agreed that as Tri-B-Supply, Larry would conduct a butcher supply business with Connie doing its bookkeeping and secretarial work. (Addendum E, pp. 24-25). Connie would simultaneously conduct a ceramic's business. (Addendum E, pp. 24-25).

Larry Benson was aware of the non-competition provisions of his Agreement with Kasco and discussed them with an attorney. (Addendum E, p. 75). Connie Benson was also aware of the non-competition Agreement and Larry Benson's visit with an attorney. (Addendum E, p. 75).

⁴Addendum C and D contain pertinent pages of deposition transcript for former Kasco customers Craig Smart and F. Scott Doxey respectively.

⁵Addendum E contains pertinent pages of Connie Benson's deposition transcript.

In February 1989, while still Kasco's employee, Larry Benson began purchasing his own equipment and inventory to be used in Tri-B-Supply's butcher supply business. (Addendum E, pp. 191-92, 241-48; Addendum B, pp. 149-51, 183). Larry Benson also began establishing distributor relationships with other suppliers and conducting sales to Kasco customers using Tri-B-Supply's invoice. (Addendum B, pp. 234-238; Addendum C, pp. 26-28). On February 1, 1989, Larry Benson personally delivered a butcher supply product to a then-Kasco customer, Craig Smart of Mountain West Meats, using a Tri-B-Supply invoice. (Addendum C, pp. 7, 21-28).

Larry and Connie Benson obtained a \$30,000 loan using their jointly-owned residence as security to finance the purchase of inventory and equipment for their butcher supply business. (Addendum E, pp. 193-196; Addendum B, pp. 170-74, 249-52). Larry and Connie Benson also used jointly-held personal savings and \$9,000 from stock that Larry Benson owned separately. (Addendum E, pp. 193-96; Addendum B, pp. 170-74, 249-52).

On February 15, 1989, Mr. Benson provided written notice to Kasco that he would resign effective March 1, 1989. (R. 23). A Tri-B-Supply letter dated March 10, 1989, was sent to Kasco's customers informing them that Mr. Benson

was operating a butcher supply business with Connie Benson under the name Tri-B-Supply. (Addendum F).⁶ The letter bore both Larry and Connie Benson's names and announced that "we have started our own business, in butcher supplies" (Addendum F)(emphasis supplied). The Tri-B-Supply letter thanked its recipients "for your support in the past", promising "more frequent service" and "less expensive service in the future." (Addendum F)(emphasis supplied).

Many Kasco customers who received this letter immediately requested that Kasco remove its equipment because they were giving their business to Larry and Connie Benson's new business, Tri-B-Supply. (R. 42-43, ¶¶ 8, 10; R. 96-97, ¶¶ 2-4; R. 146-149, ¶¶ 2-13). Connie Benson testified that every customer Tri-B-Supply had acquired was a former Kasco customer to whom Tri-B-Supply's March 10, 1989, letter was mailed. (Addendum E, pp. 41-44).

On March 17, 1989, after Kasco discovered that Larry Benson had begun competing against Kasco and diverting Kasco's customers to Tri-B-Supply, Kasco filed a Verified Complaint against Larry Benson, Connie Benson and Tri-B-Supply. (R. 2). The district court entered a temporary restraining order against the defendants on the

⁶Addendum F is a copy of the March 10, 1989, letter.

same date. (R. 85). On March 21, 1989, following a hearing, the district court entered a preliminary injunction order against Larry Benson. (R. 139). The district court expressly found that Larry Benson's employment Agreement was supported by consideration, that the post-employment covenant was necessary to protect Kasco's goodwill and business, that the non-competition restrictions were reasonable as to time and area and that it was not executed in bad faith. (R. 973, p. 6). The district court did not enjoin Connie Benson. (R. 973, pp. 7-9).⁷

After Larry Benson was enjoined, Kasco learned that Connie Benson had taken steps to continue Tri-B-Supply's butcher supply business with Robert Benson, Larry Benson's son. (R. 834). Connie and Robert Benson used the money Larry Benson invested in Tri-B-Supply. (Addendum E, pp. 267-68; Addendum B, pp. 193-95; Addendum G, pp. 54-57). Robert Benson did not pay any amount to obtain an interest in Tri-B-Supply, nor was Larry Benson compensated for his interest and investment in Tri-B-Supply. (Addendum E, pp. 18-21, 91-92, 190; Addendum G, pp. 28, 73-74, 143).

Connie and Robert Benson approached Kasco's customers to divert their business to Tri-B-Supply.

⁷ This decision is discussed fully in Argument point 2 infra.

(R. 834). Every customer they approached knew Larry Benson. (Addendum E, pp. 152, 165). Connie and Robert Benson introduced themselves as Larry Benson's wife and son. (Addendum G, p. 101). They were always greeted openly after they informed the customer who they were. (Addendum E, p. 146). Connie and Robert Benson told Kasco's customers that because Larry Benson was restrained by the District Court, business with Tri-B-Supply could be conducted through them. (Addendum E, pp. 149-50, 154, 156; Addendum G, pp. 94, 100-02; R. 834). Connie and Robert Benson either expressly told Kasco's customers or left them with the impression that Mr. Benson would be involved again with Tri-B-Supply when the year was over. (Addendum E, p. 156; Addendum G, pp. 122-123).

Connie Benson described how she and Robert used the customer relationships Larry Benson nurtured as Kasco's agent:

- A. And these customers love Larry -- if Larry's not there, they love us and they will accept what they've done to Larry but they still want us. And the service is there, we are here locally, we can get our equipment, and they want to be treated as a person. They don't want to be a number any more.
- Q. They want to be treated the way Larry's been treating them?

- A. That's right. And they say as long as you treat me the way Larry has done in the past, we will be with you.

(Addendum E, p. 97).

Kasco's customers testified that they left Kasco to do business with Tri-B-Supply because of their association with Larry Benson whom they had grown to trust as Kasco's agent:

a. F. Scott Doxey of Champion Meats, Inc., did business with Kasco because of his familiarity with Larry Benson. (Addendum D, p. 10). Mr. Doxey received a letter from Tri-B-Supply bearing Mr. Benson's name which indicated that Larry and Connie Benson wanted to continue service; not as Kasco, but as Tri-B-Supply. (Addendum D, p. 22). Mr. Doxey decided to give his business to Tri-B-Supply because of Mr. Benson's "past service and reputation." (Addendum D, p. 28).

b. Leland Child of Child's Custom Meat Cutting met Mr. Benson for the first time when Mr. Benson was being trained by Ed Mason, Larry Benson's Kasco predecessor in the Utah territory. (Addendum H, pp. 7, 10, 17). After receiving Tri-B-Supply's letter announcing the Bensons' own business, Mr. Child advised Kasco that "I've been with Larry Benson for a long time and Larry's been good to me and he's starting out on his own now . . . I think

I'll just stay with him." (Addendum H, p. 18). Mr. Child stated: "I decided to stay with [Tri-B-Supply] because of the good service I got from Larry." (Addendum H, p. 27).

c. Randall Heath, meat manager for Bowman's Market, did business with Kasco through Larry Benson. (Addendum I, p. 13). Connie Benson of Tri-B-Supply contacted Mr. Heath in early April and said she wanted to talk to him before he had his "next scheduled delivery from Kasco." (Addendum I, pp. 25-27). Connie and Robert Benson met Mr. Heath on April 5, 1989, and advised him that a Kasco representative would be stopping by. (Addendum I, pp. 36-37). Mr. Heath gathered his Kasco equipment and returned it to the Kasco representative who appeared later that day or shortly thereafter. (Addendum I, pp. 36-37). Mr. Heath explained to his supervisor that he changed from Kasco to Tri-B-Supply because he knew Mr. Benson and Tri-B-Supply was "his family's company" and the service would be the same. (Addendum I, p. 30).

d. Craig Smart of Mountain West Meats gave his business to Kasco because he was familiar with Mr. Benson even though other companies also solicited his business. (Addendum C, pp. 7, 10-14). Mr. Smart testified that he believed Tri-B-Supply was Mr. Benson's own business. (Addendum C, p. 28). Mr. Smart advised Kasco he would no

not require privity of contract and because Bensons did not oppose Kasco's other proposed changes to its complaint, the district court abused its discretion by not freely granting leave to amend.

ARGUMENT

1. Larry Benson Should Be Enjoined For A Total Of 18 Months Following His Resignation

Larry Benson agreed to observe the terms of his post-employment covenants "for eighteen months immediately following termination of his employment." (Addendum A ¶ 4.3). The district court expressly found these provisions "reasonable" and enforceable. (R. 973, p. 6). Yet, the district court varied these terms and reduced the injunction period to twelve months following Larry Benson's termination. (R. 973, p. 7). We will show that the district court's alteration of the Agreement's post-employment provisions was improper. First, however, we will show that the district court correctly decided that the Agreement was enforceable.

a. Larry Benson's Non-Competition Agreement is Enforceable

In System Concepts, Inc. v. Dixon, 669 P.2d 421 (1983), this Court outlined the requirements for injunctive relief in cases where, as here, post-employment

non-competition covenants are involved. First, there must be apparent entitlement to injunctive relief. Id. at 425. Entitlement is shown when the restrictive covenant is (1) supported by consideration; (2) negotiated in good faith; (3) necessary to protect the goodwill of the business; and (4) reasonably restricted as to time and space. Id. at 425-26, citing Allen v. Rose Park Pharmacy, 120 Utah 608, 237 P.2d 823, 828 (1951). The employee must also be "special, unique or extraordinary." 669 P.2d at 426.

Second, great or irreparable harm must result if injunctive relief is not granted. 669 P.2d at 425. This element is met if the harm is "likely or threatened"; actual harm need not be established. Id. at 428. Third, the activity in question tends to render a final judgment ineffectual. Id. at 425, 428-29. Kasco satisfied these elements as the district court found. (R. 973, p. 6).

(i) Entitlement

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