1990

# Kasco Services Corporation v. Larry D. Benson, Connie A. Benson dba Tri-B-Supply : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Kasco's appeal of the orders granting preliminary injunctive relief against Larry Benson and denying the same against Connie Benson are untimely and should therefore be dismissed.

Those motions and the motions seeking to enjoin Robert Benson and to amend Kasco's Complaint should be denied in that the restrictive covenant which is the basis for all of Kasco's claims is invalid in that it was not supported by consideration and Larry Benson's services were neither special, unique, or extraordinary.

Kasco's motions seeking injunctive relief should also be denied because Kasco is not suffering an irreparable harm and the equities clearly demonstrate the harm suffered by the defendants, if such relief were granted, would be far greater than that suffered by Kasco, if it is not.

---

<sup>8</sup> A copy of Robert Benson's Affidavit is attached as Exhibit H.

Finally, the motion to amend the Complaint should be denied in that allowing Kasco to amend will result in severe prejudice to the Defendants, and Robert Benson is not properly a party in this suit.

## ARGUMENT

### Overview

The district court did not make any findings of facts or conclusions of law in denying the motions being appealed here. The standard of review for an interlocutory order where findings of fact are not made is set forth in *Mower v. McCarthy*, 122 Utah 1, 245 P.2d 224 (1952).

Reviewing a case of this kind where issues of fact are involved and there are no findings of fact, we do not review the facts but assume that the trier of the facts found them in accord with its decision, and we affirm the decision if from the evidence it would be reasonable to find facts to support it.

*Id.* at 245 P.2d 226. See also *Mohave Uranium Co. v. Mesa Petroleum Co.*, 451 P.2d 587, 591 n. 7 (Utah 1969).

The facts in this case clearly support the findings of the trial court and therefore the Plaintiff's Interlocutory Appeal should be denied.

#### I. KASCO'S PETITION IS UNTIMELY AND SHOULD THEREFORE BE DENIED.

Kasco would have this Court believe that it is appealing the Trial Court's Order of May 9, 1990 denying Kasco's Motion for Modification of the April 7, 1989 Order Preliminary Injunction and Kasco's Motion For Preliminary Injunction Against Connie Benson and Order to Show Cause Why Connie Benson Should Not Be Held in Contempt of Court. In reality, Kasco is asking this Court to reverse the Order of the Trial Court of

March 21, 1989. It was on March 21, 1989 that the Trial Court ruled the Non-Competition Agreement was to be valid from August of 1988 for eighteen months for purposes of the Preliminary Injunction and that Connie Benson should not be enjoined. (R. 973). Kasco failed to appeal the Trial Court's Order, instead it filed its subsequent barrage of motions.

Rule 5(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure requires a party to appeal an interlocutory order "within 20 days after the entry of the order of the trial court . . ." Kasco did not appeal the April 10, 1989 order within 20 days instead it brought subsequent motions to the trial court containing the same arguments as previously heard and rejected.

To allow Kasco to have its motions for injunctive relief heard by this court is to make the time restriction contained in Rule 5 moot and allow an interlocutory order to be appealed indefinitely by simply bringing the identical motion at a later date.

Kasco's appeal of the order denying the injunctive relief as against Tri-B Supply and Connie Benson and granting injunctive relief against Larry Benson is not timely and should therefore be dismissed.

## II. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO DENY KASCO'S MOTIONS WAS CORRECT.

### A. Kasco's Motion to Modify the Preliminary Injunction Against Larry Benson was Properly Denied by the Trial Court.

Ordinarily the issuing of an injunction is not appealable.

Injunction, being an extraordinary remedy, should not be lightly granted, and it is well settled that: the granting or refusing of injunction rests to some extent within the sound discretion of the trial court, and its judgment. . . will not be disturbed on appeal unless it can be said the court abused its discretion or that the judgment entered is clearly against the weight of the evidence.

*Systems Concept Inc. v. Dixon*, 669 P.2d 421, 425 (Utah 1983).

1. A Court should not modify an injunction absent a change in circumstances or fact.

The conditions under which a court should modify an injunction were addressed by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Systems Federation No. 91 v. Wright*, 364 U.S. 642. In *Systems Federation*, the court was faced with a motion to modify an injunction entered by a trial court which forbade discrimination against non-union employees by the Louisville and Nashville Railroads. The statute upon which the injunction was originally entered was modified by an act of Congress.

In the court's opinion, Justice Harlan stated the proposition that a court will not modify injunctive relief on the basis of a reconsideration of matters which have already been adjudicated. The Court stated that "[f]irmness and stability must no doubt be attributed to continuing injunctive relief based on adjudicated facts and law, and neither the [opposing party] nor the court should be subjected to the unnecessary burden or re-establishing what has once been decided." *Id.* at 647.

Justice Harlan did, however, indicate that modification of the injunction would be appropriate in two situations; a change in the law or a change in the facts. *Id.*<sup>9</sup> He said that "sound judicial discretion may call for the modification of the terms of an injunctive decree if the circumstances, whether of law or facts, obtaining at the time of its issuance have changed, or new ones have since arisen." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Because Kasco's appeal attempts to modify the Preliminary Injunction based on a re-adjudication of when the starting period of the injunction should commence, and is not

---

<sup>9</sup> (A footnote does suggest that other equitable grounds may exist for changing an order).

based on new facts or law, or changed facts or law, Kasco's Motion must be denied.

2. An extension of the preliminary injunction was properly denied, where the underlying covenant not to compete was invalid for a lack of sufficient consideration.

One of the requirements necessary, in order for a restrictive employment contract to be valid is that "the covenant be supported by consideration." *Systems Concepts, Inc. v. Dixon*, 669 P.2d 421, 426-427 (Utah 1983); *Allen v. Rose Park Pharmacy*, 120 Utah 608, 237 P.2d 823 (1951). In its Ruling of March 21, 1989, the Trial Court appeared to find that the covenant was supported by consideration. However, in its Hearing of April 5, 1990 the issue of consideration was again raised by Benson. The sole purported consideration for the restrictive covenant was Mr. Benson's employment. Mr. Benson was already employed, indeed he had already been performing the same job for the company for five years prior to his signing of the agreement. There was no promise of future or continued employment, nor was Mr. Benson reemployed.

It is true that a promise of continuing employment can be sufficient consideration for a restrictive covenant if it is made upon the start of an employee's employment or soon thereafter. *Systems Concepts, Inc.*, at 426. However, the agreement signed in this case was not signed until some five years after employment had begun and no promise of continuing or future employment was made.

The general rule regarding consideration in restrictive employment contracts is explained in *Perthou v. Stewart*, 243 F.Supp 655 (D. Ore. 1965). In *Perthou*, the court held that where the defendants had signed the non-compete agreement a substantial time after commencing their employment, and the employer's obligation under the covenants amounted to nothing more than to employ the defendants, no consideration passed at the

time of signing. The court found no consideration existed even though the signed documents indicated that there was consideration for the agreement.

The current case is similar to *Perthou*, the purported consideration is set forth in the agreement "in consideration for Keene employing sales representative..." (Plaintiff's Exhibit B). However, Keene had already employed Larry Benson. No new consideration passed at the time the agreement was signed. The employer's obligations were not changed at the time of signing the agreement. The covenant was not supported by new consideration, and was therefore invalid. See *Mail-Well Envelope Co. v. Saley*, 497 P.2d 364, 366 (Ore. 1972).

In refusing to extend the Preliminary Injunction against Larry Benson, the Trial Court may have correctly found that no new consideration existed.

3. The Trial Court was correct in refusing to extend the Preliminary Injunction where the covenant not to compete sought to enjoin an activity that was neither special, unique or extraordinary.

In *Systems Concept, Inc.*, the court succinctly stated:

This Court has held that to justify enforcement of a restrictive employment covenant by injunctive relief, the employer must show not only good will, but the services rendered by the employee were special, unique or extraordinary.

*Systems Concept Inc.* at 426; *Robbins v. Finlay*, 645 P.2d 623, 627-28 (Utah 1982).

The services rendered by Larry Benson were neither special, unique or extraordinary. Larry Benson was a salesman. His job involved visiting customers and selling them butcher products. There is nothing special, unique or extraordinary about the job. In fact, by the time Larry Benson had been working for Keene for six months he was outselling his boss, and by the end of the next year he was the top salesman for the entire company. While Larry Benson may possess special abilities as a salesman, there is nothing special, unique or extraordinary about the job that he was doing. The salesman's job description in this

case is closer to the non-specialized salesman in *Robbins v. Finlay* rather than the specialized salesman in *Systems Concept Inc. v. Dixon*.

In *Robbins v. Finlay*, the defendant Finlay was a hearing aid salesman working for Bel-Tone in an area running from east to west across the State of Utah with a northern boundary line running through Farmington, Utah and the southern boundary line running through Point of the Mountain in southern Salt Lake County. The Court found:

The record shows that Finlay's job required little training and is not unlike the job of many other salesmen. The company's investment in his training was small... Furthermore, there is no showing that his service was special, unique, or extraordinary, even if their value to his employer was high.

*Robbins* at 628.

This type of employment was distinguished by the Court in *Systems Concepts, Inc. v. Dixon*. In *Systems Concepts, Inc.*, the employee was found to have rendered services which were special, unique, or extraordinary. *Systems Concepts, Inc.* at 426. Specifically the court found,

Defendant's special and unique service included management of sales activities and customers referral on a national level, extensive personal promotions in advertising media, products development and design consultation, development of sales methods and general promotion of products.

*Supra* n.11. (emphasis added)

Larry Benson was a salesman. His job was similar to many other salesmen. He received very little or no sales training from Keene or Kasco. (Larry Benson Deposition Page 59-60). The investment of Kasco and Keene in Larry Benson was small. His services did not include management responsibility, product development, design consultation or development of company wide sales methods. Neither Keene nor Kasco made extensive personal promotions of Larry Benson through the advertising media. Injunctive relief in

this case was not proper against Larry Benson at all. Therefore, the Trial Court was correct in ruling the injunction should not have been extended an additional six months.

It is of no moment that defendant may have been especially proficient in his work. General knowledge or expertise acquired through employment is a common calling and a common calling cannot be appropriated as a trade secret. The efficiency and skills which an employee develops through his work belong to him and not to his former employee.

*Robbins* at 628.

4. Kasco has also failed to show that it will be irreparably harmed if the injunction is not extended.

In *Systems Concept, Inc.*, the court held:

The second ground for injunctive relief [irreparable harm] is generally considered the most important. If the moving party is unable to show that the commission or continuance of some act during the litigation would produce great or irreparable injury, the motion for injunction will usually be denied, notwithstanding the showing of probable right or entitlement to recover at law.

*Systems Concepts Inc. v. Dixon*, 669 P.2d 421, 427 (Utah 1983).

Plaintiff Kasco's suit is brought claiming potential harm and damage to their good will. In the Hearing of April 5, 1990 Judge Young found:

There seems to me to be little reason why Kasco could not be covering all those customers even on a more rapid schedule than they did before. As I understand, these are rural people, principally, in small towns, where there is not going to be a whole lot of butcher shops in small towns for butcher supplies and all that Kasco has to do is continue or to begin to create the good will that you claim is so inherent in Larry Benson who has not even been able to call on these people for eighteen months.

(R. 971, para. 8, 9).

The Court found no irreparable injury to the Plaintiff from a failure to grant its preliminary injunctions, therefore the Trial Court's ruling was correct, and Kasco's motions should not be granted.



Even if Kasco was able to establish an injury, it would not be an "irreparable injury." An "[i]rreparable injury' justifying an injunction is that which cannot be adequately compensated in damages or for which damages cannot be compensable in money.' *Systems Concepts* at 427-428.

Any damages here would be easily calculable as the net sales from the activities of the injuring parties. If Larry Benson breached his covenant, appropriate damages would be the net sales Larry Benson received from former Kasco customers. If Connie Benson or Tri-B Supply were the injuring party the net sales they received from Kasco customers would be appropriate damages. Where the damages are so easily calculable there is no irreparable injury. See *Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith v. de Liniere*, 572 F. Supp. 246, 249 (N.D. Ga. 1983).

5. If the covenant not to compete was sufficient to sustain a preliminary injunction, the injunction was correctly calculated by the Court in its Hearing of March 21, 1989.

Kasco had actual notice in August of 1988 that Larry Benson did not intend to be bound by the non-compete agreement. Affidavit of Larry Benson In Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Modification.<sup>10</sup> (R. 917).

"Actual Notice" has been defined as knowledge of facts and circumstances sufficiently pertinent in character to enable reasonably cautious and prudent persons to investigate and ascertain as to the ultimate facts.

*See Colorado Interstate Gas Co. v. Dufield*, 681 P.2d 25, 28 (Kansas App. 1984).

Actual notice is also said to be of two kinds, express and implied. Applicable to the instant

---

<sup>10</sup> A copy of the Affidavit of Larry Benson in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Modification is set forth in Exhibit I.

case is express notice which includes direct information. *NLRB v. Vapor Recovery Systems Co.*, 311 F.2d 782, 786 (9th Cir 1962).

In August of 1988, Larry Benson was asked for the first time, by Kasco to sign an employment contract with them. The contract contained a non-compete agreement. Kasco told Benson that if he did not sign the agreement he would be terminated. (R. 917). Benson then told Kasco that "he did not wish to retain any restrictive covenants in his employment..." (R. 973) (R. 917). Benson also told Kasco that he deemed the contract void. These express statements to Kasco gave them actual notice at that time that Mr. Benson would not be bound by the non-compete clause in the agreement he had signed with Keene. Kasco, at that time, had the right to terminate Mr. Benson and insist on compliance with the provision. By allowing Benson to continue employment in light of a known breach, with knowledge that he would not honor the non-compete provision of the contract, Kasco has waived any rights that it may have had at a later time to claim that it did not know that Mr. Benson did not wish to be bound by the non-compete provision of the agreement. Moreover, Kasco has waived any claim for lack of notice, where it sent a non-compete agreement as well as a policy provision requiring the non-compete agreement be signed to Larry Benson and he refused to sign the agreement.

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